#### **RECEIVED**

08-17-2016

#### **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** STATE OF WISCONSIN **OF WISCONSIN**

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2016 AP 885-CR v.

RON JOSEPH ALLEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL TO REVIEW A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION THE **DENIAL** OF AND A **ENTERED** POSTCONVICTION MOTION. **AND** DECIDED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONOROBLE JEFFREY WAGNER, **PRESIDING** 

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

MAAYAN SILVER Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1052569

Silver Law Offices, LLC 2929 W. Highland Blvd. Milwaukee, WI 53208 Telephone (414) 336-1446

#### **Issues Presented**

1. Should Mr. Allen Receive a New Trial Due to Ineffective Assistance of Counsel?

The trial court denied Mr. Allen's motion for a *Machner* hearing.

2. Was there Insufficient Evidence to Convict Mr. Allen of First Degree Intentional Homicide?

The trial court found that there was sufficient evidence.

3. Was There Prosecutorial Misconduct?

The trial court found that there was not.

4. Should Mr. Allen Receive a New Trial in the Interests of Justice?

The trial court denied this request.

5. Did the Trial Court Err When It Denied Mr. Allen's Pretrial Motions for Change of Venue or Sequestration of Jury?

The trial court denied the motions.

6. Did the Trial Court Err When It Sentenced Mr. Allen?

The trial court found proper exercise of discretion.

7. Should the Court Modify Mr. Allen's Sentence.

The trial court said no.

#### **Position on Oral Argument and Publication**

Neither are requested.

#### **Statement of the Case and Facts**

On January 24, 2013, Mr. Allen was charged with first degree intentional homicide as party to a crime, contrary to Wisconsin Statutes §§ 940.01(1)(a), 939.05. (R2). The complaint said that he allegedly helped beat and suffocate the victim (EY) before EY was shot by a codefendant. *Id.* It was a highly publicized case, as the victim was a rapper and also transgendered. R17. Before trial, the parties litigated motions to change venue, empanel a jury from a different county, sequester the jury and conduct individual voir dire of each jury. R71. On September 6, 2013, the trial court denied these

defense motions. *Id.* The jury trial began on February 10, 2014 and continued through February 12, 2014. R79-R83.

The State presented 31 witnesses ranging from homicide detectives to State Crime Lab analysts to lab technicians, with whose testimony the defense did not really object. Id. Mr. Allen's defense was not that he was innocent of the crime, as he admitted to beating and strangling EY in his own testimony. (R82:1-62). Mr. Allen's defense was that he was coerced into participating in the violence because he was afraid for his life. (Id. at 19-20, 23-37). Mr. Allen maintained that Mr. Stewart, the general of the Black P. Stones of which he was an "imam," would have killed or severely injured him had he not participated in the offense. *Id.* Mr. Allen indicated that EY's death was not his fight. Id. at pp. 15-17. His position was that Mr. Stewart initiated and coerced the killing because he wanted to teach his cousin Billy Griffin a lesson that "you don't turn your back on Black P. Stones" and because he wanted the free weed that Griffin provided. (Id. at p. 17). Mr. Allen's further basis for the coercion defense is discussed in the argument section.

With coercion being the central tenet of the defense, at trial, the jury was instructed that it must first consider whether:

## 1.) Allen was guilty of first degree intentional homicide. (R82:74.)

- a.) The state must prove with evidence beyond a reasonable doubt that:
  - i.) Allen aided and abetted in causing the death of EY;
  - ii.) Allen or the person he aided/abetted acted with intent to kill;
  - iii.) Allen did not act under the defense of coercion. *Id.* at 78.

2.) Defense of coercion may reduce the charge of first degree intentional homicide to second degree intentional homicide. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Allen was not acting under

the threat by another person, other than the defendant's co-conspirator, [that] caused the defendant to believe that his act was the only means of preventing imminent death or great bodily harm to himself and which pressure caused him to act as he did.

Id. at 79-80

#### If the jury did not agree on first or second degree intentional homicide, the jury must then consider:

**3.)** Whether Allen acted recklessly, under circumstances which show utter disregard for human life, (not intentionally.) **This would be first degree reckless homicide** *Id.* at 75, 83-84.

After closing arguments, the jury was supplied with four verdict forms: one: guilty of first degree intentional homicide as party to a crime, two: guilty of second degree intentional homicide as party to a crime, a lesser included offense, three: guilty of first degree reckless homicide as party to a crime, a lesser included offense, and four: "we the jury, find the defendant, Ron Allen, not guilty." *Id.* at p. 110.

After the close of the evidence and the closing arguments and instructions, the jury entered deliberations, resurfacing with this sole question: "Is Victor Stewart considered a co-conspirator by law?" (R83:2). Defense counsel responded by stating, "I don't really understand the question, so I don't want to weigh in without knowing more." *Id.* at 2. The State suggested that the trial court refer to the jury the instruction that was given. *Id.* The court ultimately returned the jury with a note that indicated that they "please

use your collective memories and refer to the instructions." *Id.* at 3.

The jury ultimately convicted Mr. Allen on the original charge: first degree intentional homicide. *Id.* at A presentence investigation was ordered and completed, and the sentencing occurred on April 14, 2014, wherein Mr. Allen was sentenced to life in prison without parole. (R84:23-24.)

Mr. Allen filed a postconviction motion for a new trial and, in the alternative, for a resentencing, with attachments, on March 24, 2015. R50. The State responded to the postconviction motion on March 1, 2016. R59. The defense filed a reply brief on March 12, 2016. R60. Without a hearing, the trial court issued a Decision and Order Denying Motion for Post-Conviction Relief on April 8, 2016. R61.

Notice of Appeal was timely filed on April 18, 2016. R62.

#### **Argument**

# I. RON ALLEN SHOULD RECEIVE A NEW TRIAL DUE TO INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL (IAC)

#### a. Standard for New Trial Based on IAC

The United States Supreme Court established a two prong test for ineffective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 US 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984). First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient and that counsel's errors were prejudicial. *Id.* Even if deficient performance is found, judgment will not be reversed unless the defendant proves that the deficiency prejudiced his defense. *State v. Johnson*, 153 Wis.2d 121, 449 N.W.2d 845 (1990). Deficient performance requires "showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not

functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Id.* at 687, 104 S.Ct at 2064.

The prejudice standard as set forth in *Strickland* states that "the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 694, 104 S.Ct. at 2068. Counsel's choices are deficient if they are mistakes, rather than the part of a reasoned, deliberate defense strategy. *State v. Moffett*, 147 Wis.2d 343, 353, 433 N.W.2d 572, 576 (1989). Secondly, they must be so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial whose result is reliable. *Id.* 

#### B. Failure to Request Conspiracy or Other Explanatory Jury Instruction for the Jury was Deficient

"The purpose of a jury instruction is to fully and fairly inform the jury of a rule or principle of law applicable to a particular case." *State v. Hubbard*, 2008 WI 92, ¶ 26, 313 Wis. 2d 1, 13-14, 752 N.W.2d 839, 845, (citations omitted). The objective of an instruction is not only to state the law accurately but also to "explain what the law means to persons who usually do not possess law degrees." *Id.* Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 805.13(3)¹, at the close of evidence and before closing arguments, the trial court must conduct a jury instruction conference with counsel. Counsel may file written motions that the court instruct the jury on the law. *Id.* Counsel may "object to the proposed instructions or verdict on the grounds of incompleteness or other error, stating the grounds for objection with particularity on the record. Failure to object at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Made applicable to criminal cases by Wis. Stat. § 972.11(1)

the conference constitutes a waiver of any error in the proposed instructions or verdict." *Id.* Therefore, failure to timely object to jury instructions is waiver of alleged defects in the instructions. *State v. Zelenka*, 130 Wis. 2d 34, 44, 387 N.W.2d 55, 59 (1986), citation omitted. The trial court has discretion as to whether to give a requested jury instruction, a decision that will not be reversed unless under erroneous exercise of discretion. *Hubbard*, 2008 WI 92 at ¶27-29. If the jury requests clarification of jury instructions during deliberations, the necessity for, the extent of and the form of re-instruction rests in the sound discretion of the court. *Id.* It is presumed that the jury followed the instructions given to them by the trial court. *State v. Truax*, 151 Wis.2d 354, 362, 444 N.W.2d 432, 436 (Ct.App.1989).

In *Moes v. State*, 91 Wis. 2d 756, 761, 284 N.W.2d 66, 68 (1979), the defendant, Moes, was charged with first degree murder. He was hired as a hit man, and his defense focused on the claim that he was threatened with his own death if he didn't complete the job. At trial, Moes raised the statutory defense of coercion. *Id.* at 762, 284 N.W.2d at 69. The trial court instructed the jury that:

If you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt from the evidence in this case that the defendant did commit the act of shooting...and if you are further satisfied that the defendant's participation in such act...was not coerced by threats of imminent death or great bodily harm to himself or his family by persons other than co-conspirators...then you should find the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree...

*Id.* at 769

Moes' attorney requested that the trial judge include the following jury instructions:

> Likewise, a person who does not voluntarily agree or combine with one or more persons for the purpose of committing a crime is not a co-conspirator.

Id. at 770.

The trial judge denied this request, indicating that he would be giving instructions on coercion and conspiracy. *Id.* The trial judge delivered what was Wis. JI Criminal 400B1: Co-conspirator. *Id.* at 771. This instruction repeatedly emphasized that "there must be 'agreement,' 'mutual understanding,' or 'a meeting of the minds,' to further 'common criminal objectives' for a 'common criminal purpose.'" *Id.* On appeal, Moes challenged the trial court's denial of his attorney's tailored jury instruction. *Id.* at 769-771. The Wisconsin Supreme Court held that

The evidence presented by the defendant obviously was intended to make clear that the focal point of his defense was the involuntary, coerced nature of the defendant's actions. Involuntary, coerced participation negates the possibility of 'agreement' or 'common purpose.' The trial court's phrasing of the required findings in terms of 'agreement' etc., rather than voluntariness was not 'likely to prejudice the defendant' and was therefore not error.

#### Id. at 771.

Yes, the court held in *Moes* that it was not error to deny the proposed jury instruction, but this holding came *because* the trial court had already adequately explained what constituted a conspiracy or a co-conspirator. Specifically, the trial court in *Moes*, by reading the Wis. JI 400B on conspiracy, illuminated for the jury the crucial concepts of "agreement" and "common purpose." *Id*.

Unfortunately, in Mr. Allen's case, there was neither a jury instruction drafted on this co-conspirator concept by Allen's defense counsel, nor was there a stock instruction provided on conspiracy/co-conspirator. The current jury instruction for the crime of conspiracy is Wis. JI-Criminal 570. This jury instruction defines that:

A person is a member of a conspiracy if, with intent that a crime be committed, the person agrees with or joins with another for the purpose of committing that crime. A conspiracy is a mutual understanding to accomplish some common criminal objective or to work together for a common criminal purpose. *Id.* 

Additionally, in this case, Allen's attorney could have not only suggested that the court use this jury instruction, but also could constructed his own instruction and asked to add the phrase that, "a person is not a co-conspirator if there is no mutual agreement to accomplish the criminal objective." The defense could have also moved to strike that phrase.

## C. The State Mentioned Conspirator Language in Closing Argument

In closing, the State spoke against the defense theory in the case:

Ron Allen killed EY along with Ashanti...and because of that, ladies and gentlemen, and because it was not out of fear of Victor. It was not out of fear of a coconspirator, ladies and gentlemen. You can't even say that the Black P. Stones is somehow what he's afraid of...

(R82:108)(emphasis added).

The State clearly conveyed in closing argument its opinion that Mr. Stewart and Mr. Allen were co-conspirators.

The trial court writes in its decision that:

The State made only *one* small reference to "coconspirators" when it argued in closing that Allen had killed EY with Ashanti, "not out of fear of Victor...not out of fear of a co-conspirator." The State posits that it was not arguing that they were co-conspirators at all; it was arguing solely that because there was no coercion or fear, the defense simply did not apply. That is certainly

the gist of the State's closing argument. Thus, even if counsel had added a comment that Stewart and Allen were *not* co-conspirators during closing, the court is satisfied that the jury would nevertheless have found that the coercion defense did not apply because the evidence reasonably supported a finding that Allen had acted on his own directly, or as an aider and abettor, and *without* coercion.

R61:6

Unfortunately, there were two ways the jury could have found the coercion defense did not apply for Mr. Allen. (1) If the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Allen did not act under the defense of coercion (ie: he wasn't threatened by death or great bodily harm to commit the crime) or (2) if the jury found that the exception to the coercion defense stood: that Mr. Allen conspired with others to commit murder and his co-conspirator coerced him. Wis. Stat. § 939.46(1).

In this case, the jury was confused about whether or not Mr. Stewart was a co-conspirator in deliberations. They sent back a question to the court asking whether Mr. Stewart was a co-conspirator by law. (R82: 2). The jury instructions are the way that jurors understand the law. If a term is not defined for them, there is confusion. If was deficient performance for the defense not to anticipate that the jury would need an explanation of this exception to the coercion instruction so that they would give Mr. Allen every benefit of not forgoing the coercion defense.

After the jury sent the question to the court during deliberations, defense counsel stated, "I don't really understand the question, so I don't want to weigh in without knowing more." (R83:2). Thus, there was no strategic reason to fail to request or draft an instruction.

The court cannot be so certain that jury found that the evidence reasonably supported that Mr. Allen acted without coercion, because they could have found that the coercion

defense didn't apply because Mr. Stewart was a coconspirator.

D. The State Focus on "Aider and Abettor" Party to a Crime Liability or Direct Actor Instead of Conspiracy Party to A Crime Liability Does Not Negate The Importance of Defining "Co-Conspirator"

The State wrote in its postconviction response that:

[Defense] counsel never argued the coconspirator language because neither party argued the evidence or testimony in that way. As the evidence and the testimony clearly focused only on the defendant as an "aider and abettor" or as a direct actor.

R59:16.

The State's argument as to party to a crime liability is a distinction without a difference. In *Nutley*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court outlined the difference between party to a crime/aider and abettor liability and party to a crime/conspiracy liability.

#### Aiding and Abetting

Under the terms of sec. 939.05(2)(b) and (c), Stats., a person may be vicariously liable for a substantive crime directly executed by another. Under the complicity theory of sec. 939.05(2)(b), a person is liable for the substantive crime committed by another if (1) he undertakes conduct (either verbal or overt action) which as a matter of objective fact aids another person in the execution of a crime, and further if (2) he consciously desires, or 'intends' that his conduct will yield such assistance. He must consciously direct his conduct toward the realization of the criminal objective. He must have a 'stake-in-the-outcome.'

However, it is not necessary that the aider and abettor enter into an agreement with the

### perpetrator to assist him in consummation of the crime.

#### Conspiracy

Under the conspiracy theory of sec. 939.05(2)(c), Stats., a person may be vicariously liable for the substantive crime of another under either of two circumstances.

- (1) The parties may enter into an agreement to commit a particular crime. The fact of agreement imposes liability for the substantive offense on all conspirators when the crime is consummated by a single perpetrator.
- (2) During the course of executing the crime on which there is agreement, one person commits another crime which is, objectively, the natural and probable consequence of the agreed-upon crime. Under these circumstances, the fact of agreement renders all parties liable for the incidental crime.

State v. Nutley, 24 Wis. 2d at 554-56, 129 N.W.2d at 167 (1964) (overruled on other grounds)(emphasis added)

The court read the party to a crime jury instruction before closings, but nowhere in the instruction did it indicate that an agreement is not necessary to aid and abet. R82:75-76.

The legal difference between these two liabilities is simply having an agreement. See *Nutley*. Otherwise, they sound pretty similar. One of the general meanings of "to conspire," is "to act in harmony toward a common end."<sup>2</sup>

To aid and abet someone necessarily means to help another person as well. One of the general meanings of to "aid" "to provide with what is useful or necessary in achieving an end."<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "Conspire." *Merriam-Webster.com*. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web. 13 Aug. 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Aid." *Merriam-Webster.com*. Merriam-Webster, n.d. Web. 13 Aug. 2016.

Here, the State says it argued that Mr. Allen was aiding and abetting others in the homicide, not that there was a conspiracy. R59:16. It doesn't matter. The State may have been arguing a different party to a crime liability, but since no one explained to the jury the term "co-conspirator," it is reasonable to deduct that the jury thought that aiding and abetting someone can be a conspiracy. The State was arguing that Mr. Allen participated in the crime. R82:90. Since Mr. Allen seemed to follow Mr. Stewart's orders and do what Mr. Stewart was telling him to do and to go along with things, a layman not explained the difference could interpret that he was "conspiring" with Mr. Stewart.

#### E. Trial Counsel's Failure to Request Jury Instructions on Defining a Co-Conspirator or to Object to Co-Conspirator Language in Jury Instruction Prejudiced Mr. Allen

The trial court, in its postconviction decision, wrote that:

Even if [a conspiracy instruction] had been given, or language [had been] provided to the jury that a mutual agreement was necessary, there is simply not a reasonable probability that the jury would have found all of Allen's actions coerced by Stewart. Therefore, it wouldn't have mattered if Stewart was a co-conspirator or not. The evidence at trial supported a finding that he was acting on his own and was neither threatened nor coerced. He himself testified about coercion and the jury didn't believe it, so whether an instruction about conspiracy explaining that a mutual agreement was necessary was given, it would not have been reasonably probable to affect the outcome.

#### R61:5-6

There was ample evidence that the coercion defense applied, not that "he was acting on his own and was neither threatened nor coerced." *Id.* The jury needed to find that a threat by Victor Stewart and his agent, Ashanti McAlister,

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