### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-03-2016

## COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP885-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

RON JOSEPH ALLEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Immediately prior to voir dire, the State offered a deal in which Allen would plead guilty to first-degree reckless homicide, a Class B felony, amount of prison to be determined by the court. (79:14.) Allen rejected the offer. (79:14.) Four days earlier, Allen was in court when his trial counsel advised the court that Allen understood that (1) coercion was not a complete defense and (2) that a successful coercion defense would result in a conviction of second-degree intentional homicide, a Class B felony. (78:3-4.) Thus, Allen's contention that he was unaware that the best he

could do at trial was a Class B felony is contrary to the record.

Moreover, as the circuit court noted, the bigger advantage to accepting the State's offer was not chancing a conviction of a Class A felony. (61:7.) There was no guarantee that Allen's defense was going to be successful at trial. And he makes no claim that he would have accepted a plea to a Class B felony to eliminate the potential of being convicted of a Class A felony. (61:7.) Thus, the court found his contention that he would have accepted the plea offer to be incredible.

The record is clear that Allen wanted to tell his story in court. Prior to rejecting the offer on the record, Allen had asserted that he wished to fire counsel and represent himself at trial. (79:3-6.) When his intentions were questioned by the court, Allen advised the court that he already knew what he was going to do at trial – meaning that he had already planned his defense. (79:4, 7.) The court urged Allen to speak with his attorney about his defense and recessed to give him time to do so. (79:7-8.) After that recess Allen advised the court that he wished to proceed with his attorney and affirmed that he had rejected the State's offer. (79:8-9, 14.)

The record conclusively demonstrates that Allen was aware that the best he could do at trial with the coercion defense and the State's plea offer carried the same felony classification. And the record conclusively demonstrates that Allen wanted to proceed to trial. Therefore, it was proper for the circuit court to deny Allen's claim without a hearing.

# II. The State presented sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that Allen committed first-degree intentional homicide without coercion.

This Court may overturn the verdict on sufficiency of the evidence grounds "only if the trier of fact could not possibly have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt." *State v. Watkins*, 2002 WI 101, ¶ 68, 255 Wis. 2d 265, 647 N.W.2d 244.

"[W]hether the evidence was sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilt in a criminal prosecution is a question of law, subject to . . . de novo review." *State v. Smith*, 2012 WI 91, ¶ 24, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 410 (citing *State v. Booker*, 2006 WI 79, ¶ 12, 292 Wis. 2d 43, 717 N.W.2d 676). However, review of a sufficiency of the evidence challenge is very narrow, and great deference is given to the trier of fact. *State v. Hayes*, 2004 WI 80, ¶ 57, 273 Wis. 2d 1, 681 N.W.2d 203.

This is because the trier of fact decides which evidence is worthy of belief, which evidence is not, and how to resolve any conflicts in the evidence. *State v. Wilson*, 149 Wis. 2d 878, 894, 440 N.W.2d 534 (1989) (citations omitted). "[A]n appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, *viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction*, is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990) (emphasis added).

Allen argues that the State failed to prove that Allen was not acting under the defense of coercion, and relies on his ineffective assistance of counsel argument for the proposition that no reasonable trier of fact could have found that the State proved the absence of coercion beyond a reasonable doubt. (Allen's Br. 24.) This Court should reject Allen's argument as deficient on its face. The pleading standard for a *Machner* hearing is fundamentally different from the standard for a new trial.

Allen also argues that the State failed "to prove the mens rea element of attempted<sup>4</sup> first-degree homicide." (Allen's Br. 24.) Allen argues that the State failed to prove mens rea because there was no evidence that Allen had a gun. (Allen's Br. 24.) Such a statement is absurd since Allen, by his own admission, literally choked the life out of E.Y. (82:31; Allen's Br. 24.) Allen also asserts that even though he choked the life out of E.Y., he did not testify that he intended to do so. (Allen's Br. 24.) His intent, however, could easily be inferred from his actions and the inference that supports the trier of fact's verdict must be the one followed on review. *State v. Allbaugh*, 148 Wis. 2d 807, 809, 436 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1989); *see also Smith*, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 31.

As the circuit court concluded, Allen's sufficiency of the evidence argument is "ludicrous." (61:8.) The jury was not required to believe Allen's defense and it was not required to believe his testimony. The jury could conclude that Allen acted without coercion based upon the following:

Stewart, McAlister, Allen, and Seaberry were all members of a street organization known as the Black P. Stones. (81:64-65.) Stewart was the "general." (81:66.) McAlister was the second in command. (81:66-67.) Allen was

16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> As a point of clarification, Allen was convicted of first-degree homicide, party-to-a-crime, not attempted first-degree homicide.

the third in command. (82:38.) Allen and McAlister were not just yes-men, they were leaders. (81:146.)

Shortly before Christmas 2012, Allen was caught stealing a small amount of marijuana from the Black P. Stones. (81:121; 82:25.) As punishment, Stewart, McAlister, and Seaberry beat Allen on the hand and arm with a meat tenderizer. (81:121-22; 82:25.) While the beating lasted for hours, Allen suffered only abrasions on his hands – there were no broken bones. (81:121-22; 82:57.) And his injuries had mostly healed before New Year's Day. (82:28-29.) Allen and Stewart had no ill feelings towards each other after the event. In fact, they spoke on the phone, cried together, and each apologized to the other. (81:143.) They were good friends. (81:143.)

Allen characterized the Black P. Stones as a peaceful organization. (82:38-40.) Stewart was a small man, not feared by everyone. (81:229; 82:26.) But he was the leader and demanded respect. (82:26.) At some point before January 1, 2013, McAlister advised Stewart that the organization needed money. (81:86-124.) McAlister asked if he could burglarize Griffin's home. (81:68, 133.)

Griffin, who happened to be Stewart's cousin, was a prior member of the Black P. Stones. (81:65-66.) Stewart approved the burglary plan. (81:68.) Griffin and E.Y. were roommates. (81:68.) When McAlister went to Griffin's home to commit the burglary, E.Y., who was not a member of the Black P. Stones, let him into the house. (81:69-70.) That appeared to be the extent of E.Y.'s involvement.

On January 1, 2013, Stewart, McAlister, Allen, Seaberry, and others were drinking heavily and smoking a large amount of marijuana at Allen's residence. (81:70-72, 192.) They ran out of marijuana and went to Griffin's house,

a known dealer, in search of more. (81:72-74, 192-93.) There was no other motive to go to Griffin's and Stewart was not aware that E.Y. was home at the time. (81:132-33.)

E.Y. was home, and Stewart decided that Griffin should know not to trust E.Y. because E.Y. participated in the burglary of his residence. (81:79-80.) Stewart told E.Y. to tell Griffin what happened. (81:79-80.) E.Y. admitted to helping with the burglary and McAlister and Allen began to beat E.Y. (81:83-84, 199-200.)

Griffin told everyone that he did not want anything going down in his house. (81:86.) Stewart, who was not armed, grabbed a gun from McAlister and shot it into the floor to show Griffin that Griffin could not tell Stewart what to do. (81:87.)

Allen, McAlister, and Seaberry took E.Y. to the basement. (81:88-89.) Allen tried to suffocate E.Y. with a plastic bag, but it broke. (81:92-93.) Allen and McAlister beat E.Y., McAlister was the most violent. (81:84, 94.) Allen found a chain in the corner of the basement and choked E.Y. with it until his body was lifeless, his face blue, and foam bubbled from his mouth. (81:94-96, 209-11.)

Allen then left Griffin's residence to purchase cleaning supplies and duct tape and to get a change of clothes. (81:97-98.) During that time McAlister shot E.Y. three times in the head. (81:100; 82:48.) Stewart could have stopped the killing. (81:148.) He did not, but he also did not order it. (81:83, 146, 200.)

From that evidence, the jury could easily conclude, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Allen was not acting out of a reasonable fear of imminent death or great bodily harm at the hands of Stewart. The jury was free to disbelieve Allen's self-serving testimony. Therefore, there is no basis to overturn the jury's finding of guilt.

#### III. Justice does not demand a new trial in this case.

In a one sentence argument, Allen urges this Court to use its discretionary power under Wis. Stat. § 752.35 to order a new trial in the interest of justice. (Allen's Br. 25.) Discretionary reversal is available to this Court only if the real controversy was not fully tried or if there was a miscarriage of justice. Wis. Stat. § 752.35. Each category has its unique standards. Allen alleges that there was a miscarriage of justice that warrants a new trial. (Allen's Br. 25.)

Under the miscarriage of justice standard, this Court must be convinced "that the defendant should not have been found guilty and that justice demands the defendant be given another trial." *Lock v. State*, 31 Wis. 2d 110, 118, 142 N.W.2d 183 (1966). Stated another way, the defendant must convince this Court that there is a substantial degree of probability that a new trial would produce a different result. *State v. Darcy N.K.*, 218 Wis. 2d 640, 667, 581 N.W.2d 567 (Ct. App. 1998).

Requiring Allen to show a substantial probability of a different result is an even higher burden than establishing the prejudice component under *Strickland*, which only requires a reasonable probability. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. Allen ignores the difference between the two standards and simply refers this Court to the ineffective assistance of counsel argument. (Allen's Br. 26.) Such a cursory argument does not warrant the exercise of a power that is to be wielded with great caution and only utilized in exceptional cases. *State v. Williams*, 2006 WI App 212, ¶ 36, 296 Wis. 2d 834, 723 N.W.2d 719; *Vollmer v. Luety*, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 11,

456 N.W.2d 797 (1990). However, if this Court were to find that Allen adequately briefed this argument, the Court should reject it for the same reasons that it should reject the ineffective assistance of counsel argument as addressed above. See, e.g., State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115.

### IV. Allen's claims of prosecutorial misconduct do not entitle him to a new trial.

Allen alleges that he is entitled to a new trial due to two alleged instances of prosecutorial misconduct. First, he alleges that the State vouched for the credibility of the witnesses against him. (Allen's Br. 25-28.) Second, he argues that the State violated his due process rights by using a prior unsworn statement to the police to impeach him. (Allen's Br. 28-29.)

The reversal of a criminal conviction because of prosecutorial misconduct is a "drastic step" that "should be approached with caution." State v. Ruiz, 118 Wis. 2d 177, 202, 347 N.W.2d 352 (1984). While not the case here, prosecutorial misconduct can rise to such a level that it violates the defendant's due process right to a fair trial if it poisons the atmosphere of the entire trial. State v. Wolff, 171 Wis. 2d 161, 167, 491 N.W.2d 498 (Ct. App. 1992). Allegations of prosecutorial misconduct are reviewed in light of the entire record of the case. State v. Lettice, 205 Wis. 2d 376 (Ct. App. 556 N.W.2d 347.353. 1996). determination of whether the record establishes that prosecutorial misconduct occurred is within the circuit court's discretion. Lettice, 205 Wis. 2d at 352 (citing State v. Bembenek, 111 Wis. 2d 617, 634, 331 N.W.2d 616 (Ct. App. 1983)).

This Court should affirm the circuit court's conclusion that the State did not vouch for the witnesses against Allen, and deny Allen's second claim because it was not properly preserved for appellate review.

### A. The State did not vouch for Stewart's testimony in closing arguments.<sup>5</sup>

Prosecutors are given considerable latitude in closing arguments. "[A] prosecutor may comment on the evidence, argue to a conclusion from the evidence, and may state that the evidence convinces him or her and should convince the jury." *Mayo*, 301 Wis. 2d 642, ¶ 43 (citing *State v. Adams*, 221 Wis. 2d 1, 19, 584 N.W.2d 695 (Ct. App. 1998)). Moreover, the prosecutor may comment on the credibility of witnesses as long as the comments derive from evidence presented at trial. *Adams*, 221 Wis. 2d at 17. It is only when the prosecutor "goes beyond reasoning from the evidence to a conclusion of guilt and instead suggests that the jury arrive at a verdict by considering factors other than the evidence" that misconduct occurs. *State v. Draize*, 88 Wis. 2d 445, 454, 276 N.W.2d 784 (1979).

During the State's closing argument, the prosecutor took great care in reviewing the evidence. When it came time to review Stewart's testimony, the prosecutor argued that the jury should not discredit Stewart's testimony simply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In his postconviction motion, Allen argued that the State vouched for both Stewart and Seaberry. (56.) In his appellate brief, his heading for the argument is "The Prosecutor Engaged in Misconduct for Arguing That *One* of the Witnesses was Credible . . ." (Allen's Br. 25 (emphasis added).) He then cites to the transcript of the prosecutor's comments about Victor Stewart. (Allen's Br. 25.) The State assumes, then, that the *one* witness Allen is referring to is Stewart and that Allen has abandoned his claim regarding Seaberry.

because he was testifying in exchange for an offer to plead guilty to a reduced charge. (82:93-95.) The prosecutor argued: "I'm not asking you to like the deals, ladies and gentleman, but the question is, are [the witnesses] telling the truth? They are." (82:94-95.)

The circuit court concluded that the prosecutor was not engaging in vouching. Rather, he was arguing that the fact that Stewart received a deal should not lead the jury to discredit Stewart's testimony. (61:10.) Because the prosecutor's comment was derived from the evidence presented at trial, the prosecutor was free to make that argument. *Adams*, 221 Wis. 2d at 17. There was no impermissible vouching and there was no suggestion that the jury consider facts other than the evidence. Thus, Allen is not entitled to relief on this claim.

Additionally, the jury was instructed that closing arguments were arguments and not evidence. (61:10; 82:71, 109.) The jury is presumed to have followed that instruction. *State v. Deer*, 125 Wis. 2d 357, 364, 372 N.W.2d 176 (Ct. App. 1985).

B. This Court should decline to address Allen's argument that the State improperly used his prior statement for impeachment purposes because Allen did not raise this issue in the circuit court.

Allen argues that the State violated his right to due process when it used Allen's prior statement to police to impeach Allen's trial testimony. (Allen's Br. 28-29.) Allen made no objection to the use of his prior statement at trial, and did not raise this argument in his postconviction motion. "It is a fundamental principle of appellate review that issues must be preserved at the circuit court." *State v. Huebner*,

2000 WI 59, ¶ 10, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727. "Issues that are not preserved at the circuit court, even alleged constitutional errors, generally will not be considered on appeal." Id.

This Court should decline to address this issue. "The waiver rule is not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice . . . . The rule promotes both efficiency and fairness, and go[es] to the heart of the common law tradition and the adversary system." *Id.* ¶ 11. Allen did not object to the use of his statement at trial, nor did he raise this issue in his postconviction motion. The circuit court has discretion in assessing claims of prosecutorial misconduct. By not raising the claim below, Allen has circumvented the circuit court and has essentially and improperly asked for de novo review of the issue.

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